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UNITED STATESDISTRICT COURT
SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF INDIANA
INDIANAPOLISDIVISION

TERRENCE PREDDIE,
Plaintiff,
V. CaseNo. 1:12ev-00995TWP-DML
BARTHOLOMEW COUNTY

CONSOLIDATED SCHOOL
CORPORATION,

N N N N N N N N N N N

Defendant.

ENTRY ON MOTION FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT

This matters before the Court on Defendant Bartholomew County Consolidated School
Corporation’s (“BCSC”) Motion for Summary Judgmentlihg No. 28. Plaintiff Terrence
Preddie (“Mr. Preddie”) broughtaims against BCSC under Title VIl of the Civil Rights Act of
1964, 42 U.S.C. § 200G seq (“Title VII"); the Family Medical Leave Act of 1993, 29 U.S.C.

§ 2601et seq (“FMLA”); the Americanswith Disabilities Act, 42 U.S.C. § 121@t seq(“ADA”);
the Civil Rights Act of 188642 U.S.C. § 198&t seq (“§ 1981”"); the Civil Rights Act of 1991
42 U.S.C. § 1981a@nd the CivilRights Act of 1871, 42 U.S.C. § 1988seq (“§ 1983").1 Mr.
Preddie alleges that BCSC discriminated and ré¢alimgainst him on the basis @ice and
disability, as well as interfered with his rights under FMLA. For the reassinforsh below,
BCSC’sMotion for SummaryJudgment iSSRANTED.

. LEGAL STANDARD

Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 56 provides that sumualyment is appropriate if “the

pleadings, depositions, answers to interrogatories, and admissions on file, togéthdre

1 Mr. Preddie’s Complaint also mentions 42 U.S.C. § 1986; howevithengarty addressed this statute in their
briefing. Thereforgthe Court finds that this claim has been abandoned and waived.
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affidavits, if any, show that there is no genuine issue as to any materiahdatttad the moving
party is entitled to a judgméas a matter of law.Hemsworth v. Quotesmith.Com, In¢76 F.3d

487, 48990 (7th Cir. 2007). In ruling on a motion for summary judgment, the court reviews “the
record in the light most favorable to the nonmoving party and draw[s] all reasarfai®aces in

that party’s favor.” Zerante v. DelLuca555 F.3d 582, 584 (7th Cir. 2009) (citation omitted).
However, “[a] party who bears the burden of proof on a particular issue may noinrés
pleadings, but must affirmatively demonstrate, by specific factual allegatibat there is a
genuine issue of material fact that requires tritdémsworth 476 F.3d at 490 (citation omitted).

“In much the same way that a court is not required to scour the record in searafleateuo
defeat the motion fasummary judgment, nor is it permitted to conduct a paper trial on the merits
of a claim.” Ritchie v. Glidden C9.242 F.3d 713, 723 (7th Cir. 2001) (citation and internal
guotations omitted).“[N]either the mere existence of some alleged factual dispute between the
parties . . . nor the existence of some metaphysical doubt as to the mateyial fastsufficient

to defeat a motion for summary judgmenthiaramonte v. Fashion Bed Grp., Int29 F.3d 391,

395 (7th Cir. 1997) (citations and internal quotations omitted).

. BACKGROUND

A. Objectionsto Evidence
As an initial matter, the Court notes tHACSC hasobjected in several respects Nt.
Preddie’saffidavit in support of his evidenceSpecifically, BCSC alleges that Mr. Preddie’s

affidavit (Eiling No. 581) includes Self-serving conclusory statements not shown to be made on

personal knowledge and contrary to his deposition testimony in tse’téFiling No. 52 at ECF
p. 9. The Court agrees that sudiscrepanciesxist For examplein Mr. Preddie’s affidavit, he

claims thatDr. Diane Clancy(*Dr. Clancy) told him that his “ongoing use of leave pursuant to
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BCSC policy, FMLA or the ADA was forbidden, and would result in disciplinaryactip to and

including termination.” Filing No. 561, at ECF p. 4 However, the statements in his dévit

directly conflict with his deposition testimony, in which he states he negeeséed FMLA leave
or an accommodation under the ADA, and that he was never denied an accommodatiorhfor whic
he asked, either for his or his son’s medical conditions. Preddie Dep-3811A] 53:1618

(Filing No. 381, at ECF p. B Preddie Dep. 26:227:8 Filing No. 301, at ECF p3); Preddie

Dep. 45:1422 (Filing No. 301, at ECF p. § The Seventh Circuit has held that “[w]here

deposition and affidavit are in conflict, the affidavit is to be disregardedsell v. AcmeEvans
Co, 51 F.3d 64, 668 (7th Cir. 1995).To reiterate, \were depositiorand affidavit are in conflict,
the affidavit is to be disregarded unless it is demonstrable that the statement pogiecewas
mistaken, perhaps because the question was phrased in a confusing manner oabepse s#
memory is in the circumstaas a plausible explanation for the discrepaigtgwiak v. Land
O'Lakes, Inc.987 F.2d 1293, 1297 (7th Cir.1993)delmanTremblay v. Jewel Cos., supi&g9
F.2d at 520-21Babrocky v. Jewel Food Ca.73 F.2d 857, 861-62 (7th Cir.198%)ere, there is

no indication that the statements in tteposition resulted from mistake, confusion or lapse of
memory.

In addition, Mr. Preddie’s statements in his affidavit that his absenaespnaected by
the FMLA or the ADA are legal conclusions which the Court need not accept as abdsisying
summary judgment.Holman v. Revere Elec. Supply Ctb4 F. App’x 501, 504 (7th Cir. 2005);
see alsdRussell 51 F.3d at 67 (“We have been highly critical of efforts to patch up a party’s
deposition with his own subsequent affidavit. Almost all affidavits submitted in litigation are

drafted by the lawyers rather than by the affiants.”). Therefore, dhet @ill not consider the
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facts in Mr. Preddie’s affidavit to the extent they conflict with his depositidinmtesy or state
legal conclusions.

The Cart notes however that it does not discredit Mr. Preddieaffidavit responses on
the bases that it is sedérving, recognizing that the term “seHrving” must not be used to
denigrate perfectly admissible evidence through which a party tries topitssade of the story
at summary judgmentSeeHill v. Tangherlinj 724 F.3d 965, 967 {7Cir. 2013).
B. Factual Background

The following facts are viewed in light most favorable to Mr. Preddie asdhenoving
party. BCSC is a public school corporation providing education to children in gratizs Mr.
Preddieis an AfricanAmerican male who has diabetes and high blood press$iegealso has a
youngson who suffers from Sickle Cell Aemia. Mr. Preddiebegan working for BCS@s a
second grade teacher at Rockcreek Elementary School (“Rockcreek”) for the@@School
yearunder the terms of a Teacher’'s Temporary Conttdetwas hired under a temporary contract
because the permanent second grade teacher at Rockcreek had taken a leave of abisence for
20092010 school yearMr. Preddie received positive reviews for his performance at Rockcreek
during the 2009-2010 school year.

On April 15, 2010, Assistant Superintendent for Human Resources Dr. Linda DeClue (“Dr.
DeClue”) wote Mr. Preddie a letter advising him that his temporary contractBG®C would
end on June 3, 2010, and that if he wished to be considered for a position with BCSC forthe 2010
2011 school yeahewould have to complete an application and submit B&SC. Dr. DeClue
hand wrote on the letter language indicating that BCSC would like to findlangamsition for
Mr. Preddie for the following school year. Dr. Clancy, the Principal of €8é&reaan elementary

school within BCSC, reached out to Mr. Preddie and asked that he consider applyindthor a f



grade teaching position at CSAdreafor the 20162011 school yearMr. Preddie met with Dr.
Clancy, and subsequently submitted his application as an external candidatedositian. Mr.
Preddie was hired as a fifth grade teacher at -E8é&eapursuant to the terms of a Regular
Teacher’s Contract, covering a period from August 13, 2010 until May 27, 20ith his hiring,
Mr. Preddiebecameéhe only AfricanAmerican elementary school téwewithin BCSC

It appears that being a fifth grade teache€&&-Fodreapresented considerabmore
challenges than being a second grade teatHRockcreek On one occasion a student brought a
dangerous, several inch long knife to school and later tobacco proddctsPreddie sought
assistance from Dr. Clancy as an administrémowever she did not impose progressive discipline

to cub the studens behaviors.(Filing No. 561 at ECF p. % Dr. Clancy also stopped the every

otherkid assignment protocol between Mr. Preddie and the other fifth grade teadhbe anore
disruptive students were directed to Mrreddie's class. When a -salled “star student”
transferred toCSA-Fodrea that student was redirected from Mr. Preddie’s classroom to the
classroom of a white colleaguéd.

Following the start of his new assignment at GiS#lrea, Dr. Clancy met with Mr. Preddie
in November of 2010 to discuss with him concerns she tgatdmg deficiencies in his lesson
plans, based upon complaints from substitute teachers. Dr. Gldaised Mr. Preddie that he
needed to improve his lesson plans and have them completed to ensure that a substitute teache
could effectively teach his gdents in the event dfis absence. During this meeting, the subject
of Mr. Preddie’s son’s sickle cell anemia came up and was discussed by him witariay. GOn
November 3, 2010, Dr. Clancy sent amail acknowledging her lack of knowledge about sckl

cell disease, but offered her help and support to Mr. Preddie.
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When Mr. Preddie had exhausted his eighteen (18) paid days of l¥a@ancyadvised
him that any further leave would be without pay pursuant to his conacClancy als@dvised
Mr. Preddie that he could apply for additional leave under FMLA, and informed him of the
application process and appropriate contact person within BCSC to obtain an appli¢aliiog. (
No. 309 ECF p. 9 par. 2%. FurtherMr. Preddie was aware of the benefits available under the

FMLA by virtue of his prior employment. Preddie Dep. 261BL(Filing No. 361 at ECF p. B

However, at no time did Mr. Preddie request FMLA benefits from BCSC for his own arrfiss s

medical issuesPreddie Dep. 53:16-18, 54:2-5, 56:11-EBiig No. 30-1 at ECF p.)8

As required by BCSC policy, Dr. Clancy completed written evaluations oPkddie for
each semester of the 202011 school yearShecompleted a Provisional Evaluation Report on
December 15, 2010, noting that Mr. Preddie needed improvement in tweosit ireas evaluated,
including classroom management and student motivation. The evaluation report and Teacher
Performance Checklist identified areas in which Mr. Preddie’s job npesfice needed
improvement, stated a plan of action for that improvenaamt,provided comments by Dr. Clancy
regarding both Mr. Preddie’s positive and negative job performance issues. nPtogha plan
of action, Dr. Clancy assigned two memsttw work with Mr. Preddie to help improve his job
performance Mr. Preddie madarrangements to work with only one of the mentmdhe was
able to learn some things from the mentor

Throughoutthe school year, Mr. Preddiesed both paid and unpaideave due to
complications of his diabetes or for mediealergencieselated tohis son. Sometime during the
Spring semester before his final review, Mr. Preddie met with Dr. Clartogrioffice and she told
him that he could not miss any more time for his son as it was affecting his @asBreddie

Dep. 42:1943:12 Eiling No. 361 ECFat p. 5) On another occasiashetold Mr. Preddie “You've
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missed a lot of school fgiourself. You can’t take off. Is there anybody that can go pick up your

son ... tause you'valready missed enough days for yourdelfFiling No. 50-2 at ECF p.)5

On March 2, 2011, Dr. Clancy observed Mr. Preddie’s classroom in connection with the
preparation of the Provisional Evaluation Report for the second semester of tH202Q1shool
year. She observed that Mr. Preddie’s approach to classroom management was very negative, and
his students were not engaged in classroom activibes Clancy had also previously olged
Mr. Preddie’s classroom on a number of other occasipesiducting walkthroughs, which were
a customary part of h@ractice as principalBased upon her observations, Dr. Clancy noted that
Mr. Preddie’s job performance had not improved and he was still havingpr®klith classroom
managementMr. Preddie was hospitalized on Marc32011 due to complications of his

diabetes(Filing No. 50-6.

Dr. Clancy completeda Provisional Evaluation Report and a Teacher Performance
Checklist on March 11, 201based upon her observations of Mr. Preddie’s job performance
during the second semester of the 2Q0Q1 school yearThat same day, Dr. Clancy met with
Mr. Preddie toreview and discushis evaluations She advised Mr. Preddie that she would
recommend that his teaching contract not be renewed for theZBQP1school year and advised
him of the reasons for her decision to make that recommendation, which primanggdagpon
his classroom management and complaints from parents and other teBch&kncy also
followed up these points in anneail exchange between her and Mr. Preddbs May 9, 2011,
theBCSCboard approved Dr. Clancy’s recommendation ofrearewaof Mr. Preddie’s contract.

In a letter dated May 10, 2011, Dr. DeClue notified Mr. Preddie that the BCS@ 83chool
Trustees approved the noenewal of his contract effective the end of the 20Q01 school year.

Reasons for nerenewal includedpoor classroom management; no lesson plan or lesson plans
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that were difficult to follow; inappropriate methods of disciplining students;ategeparent,
student, ad staff complaints about chaos; does not work well with colleagues; attendance is
affecting student progress; and, lack of student engagement and intsdelgional facts will be
addressed below as necessary.

1. DISCUSSION

Mr. Preddie’s Complaint asserts five counts against BCSC. Count | assents whaler
Title VII for unlawful discrimination on the basis of race, and/or for ratiain for asserting rights
under Title VII. Count Il asserts a failure to accommodate claim uhd&DA. Count lllalleges
failure to provide Mr. Preddie with leave to which he was entitled under FMLA. Couliebésa
violations of the Civil Rights Acts of 1866, 1871, and/or 1991 due to discrimination on the basis
of race. Count V allegeBCSCunlawfully retaliated against Mr. Preddie for his opposition to
unlawful practices and/or the exercise of his rights under the Civil Rights A&6éf and 1871,
Title VII, the ADA, and/or FMLA. The Court will address each claim in turn.
A. ADA Claim

Mr. Preddie alleges th&CSC failed to provide him with reasonable accommodation
under the ADA, and also retaliated against him for his opposition to unlawful psagtidéor the
exercise of his rights under the ADA.“In failure to accommodate claims, unlike disparate
treatment claims, theMcDonnell Douglas burdenshifting approach is not necessary or
appropriate.” Hoffman v. Caterpillar, In¢.256 F.3d 568, 572 (7th Cir. 200{jting Weigel v.
Target Stores122 F.3d 461, 464 (7th Cit997)). The retaliation claim may be analyzed under

the McDonrell Douglasburdenshifting approachone element of which requires a showing that

2 Mr. Preddie’s Complaint does not, however, allege thatdmterminated on the basis of his alleged disability, so
the Court will not address the arguments relatetidparate treatment, only failure to accommodate.

8



Mr. Preddie was performing his job in a satisfactory man8&wne v. City of Indianapolis Public
Utils. Div., 281 F.3d 640, 642 (7th Cir. 2002).

As a threshold requirement, Mr. Preddie must establish that he is a qualified individual
with a disabilityfor his ADA claims to succeedld. at 572. This inquiry turns on whether Mr.
Preddie,"'with or without reasonable accommodati@an perform the essential functions of the
employment positiothat [he] holds . . .Pohl v. United Air Lines, Inc194 F. Supp. 2d 840, 847
(S.D. Ind. 2002)quoting42 U.S.C. § 12111(8)Yemphasisn original). Failure to satisfactorily
perform on the job will defeat a plaintiff's failure te@mmodateand retaliationclaims. Id.
(citing Emerson v. Northern States Power (56 F.3d 506, 515 (7th Cir. 2001)

BCSC has presented undisputed evidence that Mr. Preddie wasatgfactorily
performing the essential functions of his position, thus not making him a “gdahélazidual with
a disability” for which BCSC was required to provide reasonable accommodation, and not
satisfying hisprima facie showing of retaliationMr. Preddie received negative performance
reviews for both the first and second semesters of the 201D school year odutiesthatneither
party disputesvere essential to his joks a school teacheincluding classroom management,
discipline, and creating adequateskas plans.Although heassers thatDr. Clancy undermined
his authority and assigned him tmere difficult studentsMr. Preddieacknowledgedt the time
of his negative performance revietwat he had “struggled to create a learning environment

conduciveto learning” and he hagroblems with classroom managemegeFiling No. 3018,

at ECF p. 4"l take full responsibility for my classroom management floundeflig reasons for
the nonrenewal of his contract were explainedMo. Preddiein his written reviews, in person,

via email, and in a letter from Dr. DeCluEiling No. 3616; Filing No. 509. Further Mr. Preddie

has not shown that thailure to adequatelyperform theoutlined functions was related this
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diabetesthus there would have been no accommodation BCSC could have provided to help him
perform these dutiesSeeAmadio v. Ford Motor C9238 F.3d 919, 928 (7th Cir. 200¢)When
a disabled employee cannot perform the essential functions of a job, the courtonuidéerc
whether any reasonable accommodation by the emplegeld help the employee to perform
those functions). Therefore Mr. Preddie cannot satisfy an essential element of his failure to
accommodate and retaliation claims under the ADA.

As mentioned earlier, one reason listed as churs@nrenewal ofMr. Preddie’scontract
is that his*attendance is affecting student progtestowever, he Seventh Circuit has held that
attendance is an essential element of most j&lodl, 194 F. Supp. 2dt 847 see alsdEEOC v.
Yellow Freight System, In253 F.3d 943, 948 (7th Ci2001) (“Common sense dictates that
regular attendance is usually an essential function in most every emptagttery; if one is not
present, he is usually unable to perform his jobVly. Preddie argues that his absenetatedto
his diabetes were protected by the ADA, and BCSC wrongfully termimatedn the basis of
these “leaves."While it is true that medical leave may constitute a reasonable accommodation in
some circumstancethe intermittent absences of the tyye Preddie argues aprotected by the
ADA/FMLA is not the type of “leave” that is contemplated as being a reasonable acdatrono
under the ADA The Seventh Circuit has explicitly rejected “an epaded schedule that allows
the employee to come and go as he pleases” by taking advantage of theeeémf@aye policy
as an accommodation that would be reasonable under the Abwadio v. Ford Motor C9238
F.3d 919, 928 (7th Cir. 2001)urther,Mr. Preddie was never prohibited from taking time off in
accordance with BCSC'’s attendance policy; he was merely advised that excessiceabsade
it difficult for him to effectively do his job as a teache3eePreddie Dep. 54:2%56:13 (Filling

No. 30-1, at ECF p. 8).

10



Mr. Preddie’s failure to accommodataim also fails for the additional reason that he did
not request an accommodation for his diabetes. Because the ADA’s reasonablacdaiion
requirement applies only to “known” disabilitie$a plaintiff must normally requestan
accommodation before liability under the ADA attacheSlde v. City of Indianapolis712 F.3d
1171, 1176 (7th Cir. 2013puotingFleishman v. Cont Cas. Co, 698 F.3d 598, 608 (7th Cir.
2012)) Mr. Preddie stated in his deposition that he never requested an accommoda8dn at

Fodrea that he did not receive. Preddie Dep. 538l iling No. 301, at ECF p. 8 This failure

to request an accommodation precludes BCSC'’s liglaifitthis claim.

Because the Court finds that Mr. Preddie was not able to perform the essentiahfuotti
his position for reasons unrelated to his diabétess not a “qualified individual with a disability”
under the ADA. In addition,BCSC cannot be subject to liability for failure to accommodate
because Mr. Preddie never requested an accommodakiverefore,Mr. Preddie’sclaims for
retaliation andailure to accommodate faihnd BCSC is entitled to summary judgmenthis
ADA claims.

B. TitleVIl and § 1981 Claims

Title VII makes it unlawful for an employer to “fail or refuse to hire or to disphany
individual, or otherwise to discriminate against any individual with respect to his osatjms,
terms, conditions, or privileges of employment, because of such individual's raceeidoon,
sex, or national origin.”42 U.S.C. 8§ 2000€8(a)(1). Title VII also prohibits an employer from
acting in retaliation against employees who lawfully seek to or actually dicipate in the
process of investigating or pursuing a Title VII discrimination claim. 42 U.S.C. 8ZapeMr.
Preddie has also alleged discrimination in violation of § 1981, which prohibits racial

discrimination in the creation and enforcement of contracts. 4ZU81981 The applicable

11
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legal standards on liability for race discrimination and retaliaiethe same under Title VIl and
§ 1981. Herron v. DaimlerChrysler Corp388 F.3d 293, 299 (7th Cir. 200#illiams v. Waste
Mgmt. of lll, 361 F.3d 1021, 1028 (7th Cir. 2004).

Plaintiffs alleging discrimination under Title Viand § 1981 may prove such
discrimination using either the direct or indirect method of proAhdonissamy v. Hewlett
Packard Co,.547 F.3d 841, 84%0 (7th Cir. 2008). The direct method requires that the plaintiff
produce evidence that the defendant was motivated by animus toward a prctegedhen he
suffered some adverse employment actidn.This may be done via direct evidence, which would
entail something akin to an admission of discriminatory motive by the employ®r poesenting
a “convincing mosaic’ of circumstantial evidence” that would permit the saraeeimte without
the employer’s admissionColeman v. Donahge&67 F.3d 835, 860 (7th Cir. 2012) (quoting
Rhodes v. Ill. Dep’t of Trans359 F.3d 498, 504 (7th Cir. 2004)).

Under the indirect method, the plaintiff must make cutima faciecase of discrimination
by showing evidence that (1) he is a member of a protected class; (2) he was Iniseting
employer’s legitimate employment expectations; (3) he suffered an admEoyment action;
and (4) a similarly situated amorker who is not a member of the protected class was treated more
favorably. Farrell v. Butler Univ, 421 F.3d 609, 613 (7th Cir. 200Rodgers v. White657 F.3d
511, 517 (th Cir. 2011).If the plaintiff establishesarima faciecase of discrimination, the burden
of production shifts to the defendant to articulate a-eisariminatory reason for the adverse
employment actionSun v. Bd. of Trs. of the Univ. of 173 F.3d 799, 814 (7th Cir. 2007). If
the defendant does so, the burden shifts back to the plaintiff to submit evidence demgmisata
its explanation is pretextuabeeKeeton v. Morningstar, Inc667 F.3d 877, 884 (7th Cir. 2012).

To establish pretext, a plaintiff must “identify such weaknesses, implausibiliteessistencies,

12



or contradictions in [defendant’s] proffered reasons that a reasonable persdrfimbuihem
unworthy of credence and hence infer thdef¢ndant] did not act for the asserted -non
discriminatory reasons.Boumehdi v. Plastag Holdings, LL.@89 F.3d 781, 792 (7th Cir. 2007).

Mr. Preddiehas not providedufficientevidence under the direct method of preaf the
Court will analyze Mr. Prddie’s claimsunder the indirect method. Mr. Preddiea member of a
protected clasandhe suffered an adverse employment action when his contract was not renewed.
However Mr. Preddiecannot establish the remainifagtors.

Mr. Preddiealleges that hevas denied leave under FMLA because he is African
American® Mr. Preddie has not identified that he received different treatment than similarly
situated persons who were not members of the same protectedRadlssy he assertghat he is
attempting ® prove reverse discrimination based on genddhah whitefemaleswere granted
leavein conjunction with complications from pregnancy atdld birth. (Filing No. 5119).
Additionally, Mr. Preddie has presented no evidence that any of the white female teachers had
similar performance issuesSeeEverroad v. Scott Truck Systems, 1604 F.21471, 478 (¥ Cir.

2010). More importantly Mr. Preddie has not brought a claim for sex @ismation so this
argument fails Mr. Preddiealso arguesbut provides no evidencdhat an unidentified white male
teacher with performance difficulties was givetsacond chanée(Filing No. 5%3). But, even if
the Court were to finghat Mr. Preddiehassatisfed this factor, he cannot satisfy the@maining
requiranent

A requirement of showing@ima faciecase of employment discrimination and retaliation

under Title VII and § 1981 is evidence that the plaimiffs meeting the employer’s legitimate

31n his Response brief, Mr. Preddie makes arguments regarding distiomion the basis dfis gender. However,
a claim for gender discrimination was not included in his Complaint.laitgf may not subsequently amend his
complaint during the summary judgment process; therefore, Mr. iBredlaly not now assert claims for gender
discriminatian. See Speer v. Rand McNaly & Cb23F.3d 658, 665 (7th Cir. 1997).

13



employment expectation®s previously discussed, the undispu@ddenceshowsthat Mr.
Preddievasnotmeeting BCSC's ldgmate employment expectatiofts the relevant time period
based upon his negative revieatSCSAFodrea for both semesters of the 2010-2011 school year,
and hisacknowledgemerthat he had problems with classroom managenunfortunately Mr.
Preddie’s evidence of his positive performance evaluations during the 2009-20b9 i@levant
to his claims, adie was working at a different school and teaching a different grade I8eel.
Salvadori v. Franklin Sch. Dist293 F.3d 989, 996 {7Cir. 2002)(teacher could natatisfy the
satisfactory performance requirement by showing that her performeaasadeqgate for some
period oftime during her employment, and haddleow that she was performing well at three
of her terminatioh

Because Mr. Preddie cannot show that he can satisfyima faciecaseof discrimination
or retaliation, his claims under Title VII and § 1981 fail and BCSC is entitleaintonary judgment
on those claims.
C. FMLA Claim

Count Il of Mr. Preddie’s Complaint asserts an FMLA interferencenclalleging that
BCSC failed to provide him with FMLA leave to which he was entjtizdl also that BCSC
retaliatedagainst himThe FMLA makes it unlawful for an employer to “interfere with, restrain,
or deny the exercise or the attempt to exercise, any right provided under [tlie22ct).S.C. 8
2615(a)(1). Employers are also prohibites retaliating against an employee’s use or attempted
use of FMLA leave. 29 U.S.C. § 2615(a)(2)l'he difference between the two theories is that a
retaliation claim requires the employee to prove discriminatory or retaliatoryt wtele an

interference claim only requires the employee to prove that the employer deniedtitiememts
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provided by the Act. Pagel v. TIN Inc.695 F.3d 622, 626 (7th Cir. 201@jting Kauffman v.
Fed. Express Corp426 F.3d 880, 884 (7th Cir. 2005)).

To prevail on an FMLA interference claifdy. Preddie must shothat (1) he was eligible
for FMLA’s protections; (2) his employer was covered by the FMLAh@)was entitled to take
leave under the FMLA; (4) he provided sufficient notice of his intethke leave; and (5) his
employer denied him FMLA benefits to which he was entitledgel 695 F.3d at 627The fatal
flaw in Mr. Preddie’s FMLA interference claim is that he did not provide sefiicnotice of his
intent to take leave under FMLA. Wailan employee need not specifically mention the FMLA to
meet his or her obligation to provide notican“employees reference to beingick is generally
not enough . . .” Id. at628. Mr. Preddie stated in his deposition that, despite being famililar
the process for taking leave under FMLA, he never inquired about taking FMLA leave while he

was atCSA-Fodrea. Preddie Dep. 26:27:8 (iling No. 381, at ECF p. B Mr. Preddie testified

that he never asked to take leave because of his son’s conditieddie Dep. 45:122 (Filing

No. 301, at ECF p. b Becausédiecannot satisfy the fourth element of préma faciecase BCSC

is entitled to summary judgment on Mr. Pdexls FMLA interference claim.

Mr. Preddie’s failure to request FMLA is also problematic for his retatiatlaim. The
McDonnell Douglasurdenshifting approach also applies EMLA retaliation claimsthus,Mr.
Preddie must show thét) heengaged in a protected activity; @ESCtook adverse employment
action againshim; and (3) there is a causal connection betweenvihePreddie’'sprotected
activity andBCSC’sadverseemployment actionKing v. Preferred Technical Grpl66 F.3d 887,

892 (7th Cir. 1999) Because Mr. Preddie never took FMLA leave, nor attempted to exercise his

FMLA rights, he cannot show he engaged in protected activity; thus, Mr. Preddie hasshetl sati
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the first prong of hiprima faciecase. Therefore, Mr. Preddie’s retaliation claim fails, and BCSC
is entitled to summary judgment on this claim.
D. Other Civil Rights Acts Claims

Mr. Preddie’s remaining claimsnder Count V of his Complairsire asserted undéne
Civil Rights Acts of 1866, 1871and 1991. These claims are duplicative of other claims that have
already been addressed, as the Civil Riglat of 1866 is codified under 42 U.S.C. § 1981, and
the Civil Rights Act of 1991 merely panded the remedies available for violationFitie VII.
Seed2 U.S.C. § 1981a(b)Thereforethere is no need to separately address these claims.

The Civil Rights Act of 1871 is codified, in part, und& U.S.C. § 198. Section 1983
claims are analsed under the same standards applicable to Title VIl and § 1981 cRRodgers
v. White 657 F.3d 511, 517 (7th Cir. 2011). As discussed above, Mr. Preddie cannot show that he
was meeting BCSC'’s legitimate employment expectations, hlsu§ 1983 clainfails as well.
BCSC is entitled to summary judgment on all of the civil rights claims adsar@ount V of Mr.
Preddie’s Complaint.

V. CONCLUSION

BCSC'’s decision to not renew Mr. Preddie’s contract tmalgarsh, considering thadr.
Preddiereceived psitive reviewsduring his first year teaching assacond grade teachemd
following the March 11, 2011 evaluation, he acknowledbes deficiencie and expressed a
willingness to improve. Additionally, Mr. Preddie’s employment provided an opportunity fo

much needed diversity in tBBCSCschool district The Court, however, “does not sit as a super

4 Mr. Preddie was the only Africaimerican teacher from 2004 through 2013 in the elementary level at BCSC.
According toDr. DeClug “Columbus’ African-American population is less than 2%” anedruiting African
American teachers isuch communities “a national recruiting concernDeClue Dep 24 6-23 (Filing No. 503 at

EFC p. §.
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personnel department that reexamineseatity’s business decisionsBalderston v. Fairbanks
Morse Engine Div. of Coltec. Indu§28 F.3d 309, 324 {7Cir. 2003).

Because theris no evidence to show that Mr. Preddie’s contract was not renewed for any
reason other than his performance issB&SC’s Motion for Summary Judgmefl{ng No. 28)
must beGRANTED, and Mr. Preddie’s claims ai@lSMISSED. A separate judgment will

follow.

SO ORDERED.

Date:8/27/2014 doﬂ% \Daumqmﬂr

Hon. Talﬁ"d} Walton Pratt, Judge
United States District Court
Southern District of Indiana
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